# COSEWIC Assessment and Status Report

on the

# **Spring Salamander** *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*

in Canada



SPECIAL CONCERN 2002

COSEWIC COMMITTEE ON THE STATUS OF ENDANGERED WILDLIFE IN CANADA



COSEPAC COMITÉ SUR LA SITUATION DES ESPÈCES EN PÉRIL AU CANADA COSEWIC status reports are working documents used in assigning the status of wildlife species suspected of being at risk. This report may be cited as follows:

Please note: Persons wishing to cite data in the report should refer to the report (and cite the author(s)); persons wishing to cite the COSEWIC status will refer to the assessment (and cite COSEWIC). A production note will be provided if additional information on the status report history is required.

- COSEWIC 2002. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the spring salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. vi + 16 pp.
- Bonin, J. 1999. COSEWIC status report on the spring salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* in Canada *in* COSEWIC assessment and status report on the spring salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. 1-16 pp.

For additional copies contact:

COSEWIC Secretariat c/o Canadian Wildlife Service Environment Canada Ottawa, ON K1A 0H3

Tel.: (819) 997-4991 / (819) 953-3215 Fax: (819) 994-3684 E-mail: COSEWIC/COSEPAC@ec.gc.ca http://www.cosewic.gc.ca

Également disponible en français sous le titre Évaluation et Rapport du COSEPAC sur la situation du salamandre pourpre (*Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*) au Canada.

Cover illustration: Spring salamander — Andrée Jenks, Hamilton, Ontario.

©Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada 2003 Catalogue No. CW69-14/352-2004E-PDF ISBN 0-662-35884-8 HTML: CW69-14/352-2004E-HTML 0-662-35885-6



Recycled paper



#### Assessment Summary – May 2002

## Common name

Spring salamander

## Scientific name

Gyrinophilus porphyriticus

Status Special Concern

#### Reason for designation

This species has a limited, fragmented range and specialized habitat requirements. It is susceptible to habitat degradation leading to population loss. Because of low dispersal rates, as well as late sexual maturity, populations that are lost have little chance of recovery.

#### Occurrence

Ontario and Quebec

#### Status history

Designated Special Concern in April 1999. Status re-examined and confirmed Special Concern in May 2002. Last assessment based on an existing status report.



## **Spring Salamander** *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*

## **Species Range**

The spring salamander, *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* (Caudata, Plethodontidae) reaches its northern limit of distribution in Canada. It is represented here by the subspecies called the northern spring salamander, *G. p. porphyriticus*, which is distinct from four other subspecies located in the Appalachian mountains of the United States.

## **Canadian Populations**

There are two distinct populations inhabiting forested mountain streams in southern Quebec. One ranges over 200 km<sup>2</sup> in the foothills of the Adirondacks, Huntingdon county, while the other is discontinuously distributed over 30,000 km<sup>2</sup> of the Appalachian mountains and foothills from the US-Canada border north to Arthabaska county.

## **Population Size**

The spring salamander is rare within its range and usually found in low abundance. Greatest densities are found in headwater streams lacking predatory fish.

## **Habitat Features**

Key habitat features include permanent water flow, cool oxygenated water, an unfrozen winter refuge, and a rocky and gravely stream bed and bank to provide micro-habitat cover for adults and larvae.

## Vulnerability

The late sexual maturity (up to 6 years old) and the special habitat requirements of the spring salamander make this species particularly vulnerable to environmental changes.

## **Limiting Factors**

Limiting factors are related to habitat transformation due to agriculture, forest cutting, and the development of housing and intensive recreation in the mountains of southern Quebec.

## **Status Evaluation**

Present protection is insufficient to counteract the impact of limiting factors. It is a priority to preserve headwater stream populations in both the Adirondack and Appalachian ranges in Canada. The species must be considered **Special Concern** until sufficient protection can be provided.



The Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) determines the national status of wild species, subspecies, varieties, and nationally significant populations that are considered to be at risk in Canada. Designations are made on all native species for the following taxonomic groups: mammals, birds, reptiles, amphibians, fish, lepidopterans, molluscs, vascular plants, lichens, and mosses.

#### **COSEWIC MEMBERSHIP**

COSEWIC comprises representatives from each provincial and territorial government wildlife agency, four federal agencies (Canadian Wildlife Service, Parks Canada Agency, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, and the Federal Biosystematic Partnership), three nonjurisdictional members and the co-chairs of the species specialist groups. The committee meets to consider status reports on candidate species.

#### DEFINITIONS

Species	Any indigenous species, subspecies, variety, or geographically defined population of wild fauna and flora.
Extinct (X)	A species that no longer exists.
Extirpated (XT)	A species no longer existing in the wild in Canada, but occurring elsewhere.
Endangered (É)	A species facing imminent extirpation or extinction.
Threatened (T)	A species likely to become endangered if limiting factors are not reversed.
Special Concern (SC)*	A species of special concern because of characteristics that make it particularly sensitive to human activities or natural events.
Not at Risk (NAR)**	A species that has been evaluated and found to be not at risk.
Data Deficient (DD)***	A species for which there is insufficient scientific information to support status designation.

- \* Formerly described as "Vulnerable" from 1990 to 1999, or "Rare" prior to 1990.
- \*\* Formerly described as "Not In Any Category", or "No Designation Required."
- \*\*\* Formerly described as "Indeterminate" from 1994 to 1999 or "ISIBD" (insufficient scientific information on which to base a designation) prior to 1994.

The Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) was created in 1977 as a result of a recommendation at the Federal-Provincial Wildlife Conference held in 1976. It arose from the need for a single, official, scientifically sound, national listing of wildlife species at risk. In 1978, COSEWIC designated its first species and produced its first list of Canadian species at risk. Species designated at meetings of the full committee are added to the list.



Environment Environnement Canada Canada Canadian Wildlife Service canadien Service de la faune

Canada

The Canadian Wildlife Service, Environment Canada, provides full administrative and financial support to the COSEWIC Secretariat.

# **COSEWIC Status Report**

on the

# **Spring Salamander** *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*

in Canada

Joël Bonin<sup>1</sup>

1999

<sup>1</sup>Redpath Museum McGill University 859 Sherbrooke Street, West Montreal, QC H3A 2K6

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
DISTRIBUTION	4
PROTECTION	5
POPULATION SIZE AND TREND	5
HABITAT	7
Habitat definition	7
Habitat trends	8
Habitat protection	8
GENERAL BIOLOGY	8
Reproduction	8
Growth and longevity	9
Movements	9
Ecology	9
Behavior, physiology and vulnerability	10
LIMITING FACTORS	10
SPECIAL SIGNIFICANCE OF THE SPECIES	11
EVALUATION	11
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	12
LITERATURE CITED	12
THE AUTHOR	16

# List of figures

Figure 1.	<i>Gyrinophilus porphyriticus</i> , adult	3
Figure 2.	North American distribution of Gyrinophilus porphyriticus	4
Figure 3.	Canadian distribution of <i>Gyrinophilus porphyriticus</i> .	6

#### INTRODUCTION

The spring salamander, *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*, is in the family Plethodontidae, the lungless salamanders. It is thought that these salamanders evolved in association with stream habitats in eastern North America (Wake 1966; Frost 1985; Beachy and Bruce 1992). Members of this family are diversified, with over 225 species distributed throughout North and South America and in a restricted area of southern Europe (Frost 1985). The genus *Gyrinophilus* is considered primitive due to its lengthy aquatic larval period (Beachy and Bruce 1992). The genus contains two species: *G. palleucus* and *G. porphyriticus* (Brandon 1966, 1967a, 1967b, and 1967c) while a third form (*G. subterraneus*) previously considered as a distinct species (Beshare and Holsinger, 1977) is now included within *G. porphyriticus* (Frost 1985). *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* itself is diverse, with five recognized subspecies: *G. p. porphyriticus*, *G. p. duryi*, *G. p. dunni*, *G. p. danielsi*, and *G. p. subterraneus*. Only the first subspecies is found in Canada.

The current common name of the species is "Spring salamander", while the subspecies present in Canada is called "Northern spring salamander" (Collins 1990). In French, the species is called "salamandre pourpre" (Cook 1984; Bider and Matte 1994). Brandon (1967c) lists the various names used in the past: *Salamandra porphyritica*, Green 1827; *Salamandra salmonea*, Storer 1838; *Pseudotriton salmoneus*, Baird 1850; *Spelerpes salmonea*, Gray 1850; *Spelerpes porphyritica*, Gray 1850; *Ambystoma salmoneum*, Duméril 1854; *Spelerpes salmoneus*, Cope 1866; *Geotriton porphyritica*, Garman 1884; *Pseudotriton porphyriticus*, Organ 1961. At one time, Bishop (1947) used the name Purple Salamander.

The spring salamander (Fig. 1) is among the largest of plethodontids, reaching up to 20 cm total length. The species is recognized among Canadian salamanders by its reddish color and a light line from the eye to the nostril. Its coloration varies geographically and darkens with age. Nevertheless, a pinkish color is always present between dark markings on the back. The belly of the adult is cream-colored as is the whole body of the larva. Individuals are most colorful (salmon to reddish) at the time of metamorphosis (Brandon 1967c).



Figure 1. Gyrinophilus porphyriticus, adult (David M. Green, photo).

Surveys by Canadian herpetologists have produced a fairly good knowledge of this species' distribution in southern Quebec (Bleakney 1958; Weller 1977; Gordon 1979; Shaffer and Bachand 1990; Bonin 1991a; Bider and Matte 1994). However, little attention has been paid to the study of its life history in Canada (Bonin 1991a).

#### DISTRIBUTION

The distribution of the spring salamander is restricted to the Appalachian mountain system of eastern North America. It is found in Mississippi, Alabama, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Tennessee, Kentucky, West Virginia, Virginia, Ohio, Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Rhode Island, New York, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Vermont, New Hampshire, and Maine (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. North American distribution of Gyrinophilus porphyriticus (after Conant and Collins, 1991).

In Canada, the present distribution of the species is restricted to the Appalachian mountains of southern Quebec (Fig. 3). There are two early records for Ontario which have not been confirmed by any subsequent surveys (Cook 1970 and 1977; OHS 1996). For a 1934 record, a larva was collected at Britannia near Ottawa. If *G. porphyriticus*, it resulted apparently from an introduction (Bleakney 1958; F. R. Cook, pers. comm.). Another record, from 1877, is of three larvae collected from "opposite to Buffalo, New York", which may correspond to the Niagara region in Welland county. If true, the spring salamander is evidently extirpated from that area and is therefore extirpated from Ontario (Oldham 1996). However, both these Ontario records are of larvae only and their identification as *G. porphyriticus* may be suspect. Thus, its presence in Ontario has never been proven.

In Quebec (Fig. 3), *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* occurs in the Adirondacks at Covey Hill, Huntingdon County), the Appalachians at Pinnacle, Sutton, Foster, Orford, Elephant and Stokes mountains, in several isolated localities at the margin of the Appalachians including the Monteregion Hills of Brome, Shefford and Yamaska, Lake Massawipi, the Smith mountains at Richmond, and Arthabaska County (Weller 1977; Gordon 1979; Shaffer et Bachand 1989; Bonin 1991a; Bider et Matte 1994). The species has not been found further east in the Notre-Dame Mountains and in most of the White Mountains, although further searches may be required. The St. Lawrence lowlands represent the northwestern limit of the species' range in Canada (Bleakney 1958; Bonin 1991a). The Atlas of Amphibians and Reptiles of Quebec databank contains an updated list of records, although some records may need to be verified because they originate from a variety of sources including non-professional herpetologists.

#### PROTECTION

The species is not listed in the current Quebec Endangered Species Act, "Loi sur les espèces menacées ou vulnérables" (L.R.Q., chap. E-12-01), but is on the list of species to be evaluated for designation (Beaulieu and Huot 1992). A status report was prepared for that purpose (Bonin 1991b).

The Quebec wildlife conservation act, "Loi sur la conservation et la mise en valeur de la faune" (L.R.Q., chap. C-61.1), regulates the harvesting, sale and collection of native species in Quebec. The spring salamander cannot be collected in the wild, sold, or kept in captivity. A licence is required for purposes of scientific and educational collection.

#### **POPULATION SIZE AND TREND**

The spring salamander is considered to be rare in Canada (Cook 1970 and 1977; Leclair 1985; Vial and Saylor 1993; Bider and Matte 1994). Usually few individuals are found in a suitable habitat, out-numbered by two-lined salamanders, *Eurycea bislineata* (Bonin 1991; Resetarits 1995). Very occasionally, larger numbers can be found, from five to twenty individuals per 25 m of stream (pers. obs.). This situation is similar in the



Figure 3. Canadian distribution of Gyrinophilus porphyriticus.

northern part of the United States (Brandon 1967c; Burton and Likens 1975). In New York state, Bishop (1941) found it to be abundant locally. The species is uncommon to rare in New England, except in Vermont and in the northwestern part of Berkshire county in Massachusetts, where it is common (DeGraaf and Rudis 1983). Nevertheless, R. Wyman (in: Vial and Saylor 1993) considered the species sensitive only in Massachusetts.

We can distinguish two populations in Canada, one located in the Appalachians and the other in the Adirondacks. These two populations are separated by the Richelieu River - Lake Champlain - Hudson River system. Brandon (1966) distinguished morphologically the Adirondack and Appalachian populations in New England based on number of vertebrae and ventral coloration. The ranges of the Adirondack and the Appalachian populations in Canada are, respectively, 200 km<sup>2</sup> and 30,000 km<sup>2</sup>. Globally, this represents about 5% of the total species range in North America (Ovaska 1995).

The size of the Canadian population is not known. From an ecological study conducted in the Québec portion of the Adirondacks, Bonin (1991a) estimated that 14 km of suitable stream habitats would be inhabited by the species. Although salamander densities were unknown, it was estimated that a diurnal search over that area would yield about 846 adults. Some portions of these habitats may support higher densities but their extent is unknown. In Virginia, larval density of ca. 5 to 10 / m<sup>2</sup> are reported for headwater streams where predatory fish are absent (Resetarits 1995).

Population trends are not documented in Canada. In 1993, fifteen old localities were surveyed to verify the persistence of populations (Bonin 1994). The species was found in only five sites because of the imprecision of initial localities (4 sites), the presumed low abundance of the species (5 sites) and the destruction of the habitat (1 site in a ski center).

*Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* populations have declined in New Jersey (Cromartie 1982) and Mississippi, probably due to habitat modification (Ashton 1976). The species is also threatened in Massachusetts and Connecticut (DeGraaf and Rudis 1983).

#### HABITAT

#### Habitat definition

*Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* is mainly associated with cool and clear water streams of forested, mountainous regions (Weller 1977). The species has been also found in various other situations: streams in open areas, ponds, lake edges, peat habitats and caves (Brandon 1967c; DeGraaf and Rudis 1983).

Permanent streams are required for the development of the aquatic larvae, which need well-oxygenated water for aquatic respiration (Hairston 1987). Foraging activity of terrestrial adults requires moist, cool environments, because skin respiration limits the tolerance of lungless salamanders for desiccation (Spotila 1972; Feder 1983). Cover objects are thus important microhabitat features for adults (Bonin 1991a). During summer, adults are usually found at the edges of streams, underneath large flat rocks in the vicinity of water (Barbour 1971; pers. obs.).

Wintering habitats are probably underground wet cavities (Bishop 1941) or unfrozen springs (pers. obs. of larvae). At our latitude, streams can freeze deeply if not fed with underground spring water. Freezing tolerance has not been documented for this species (K. Storey pers. comm.)

Forest cover is a key habitat feature (Bonin 1991a), providing suitable cover and humidity for adults to forage around the stream. It would also shade the stream, preventing the warming of the water. It also plays a role in filtering runoff, avoiding siltation of the stream bed used for foraging by salamander larvae (Bury 1980; Bonin 1991a).

*Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* is usually found in uphill areas (Bonin 1991a) with greatest numbers in headwater springs and portions of streams bedded with flat rock, particularly limestone (pers. obs.; Bishop 1941). Small headwater streams free of predatory fish support larger populations of spring salamanders (Resetarits 1995). Springs in rock outcrop areas may also provide suitable wintering conditions. Furthermore, limestone crevices would offer shelter for young larvae, avoiding predation from fish and from cannibalism by larger larvae (Resetarits 1995).

## Habitat trends

The forest has been eliminated over large parts of the southern Quebec lowlands and water drainage has been modified to favor agriculture. This may have affected populations located in the foothill areas at the margin of the species' range. In mountainous regions where most of the actual localities are, forest cutting has been the major habitat modification. Although this may not result in the loss of habitats, it may have altered habitat quality and affected population survival. Over the last few decades, development of housing (cottages, condominiums) and recreation centers (ski slopes, golf course) has increased in the Appalachian region of Quebec. This has probably affected the quality of the habitat in several regions, especially around Mounts Shefford, Brome, Orford, and Sutton.

## Habitat protection

The provincial regulation on forestry practices includes the protection of a 20 m wide buffer zone along water courses (Anonymous 1986). However, high quality stream habitats represented by the smaller headwater springs are often overlooked by foresters.

The Mount Orford Provincial Park (5,840 ha) secures habitats of the species within the Appalachian range. There is a record from Yamaska Provincial Park (1290 ha) but there are few suitable habitats within the park's limits. A record from the lake on Mount Shefford is within the protected area of a water reservoir used by the municipality of Granby. *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* was also found in the vicinity of the Ruiter Valley Land Trust, a 170 ha private conservation area protecting suitable habitats in the Sutton Mountains.

## **GENERAL BIOLOGY**

## Reproduction

Sexual dimorphism of the cloacal gland is described by Sever (1986) while sperm morphology is illustrated in Wortham et al. (1982). Males are relatively longer than females and, through the clear belly skin, the black testes can be distinguished from white eggs (Bishop 1941).

*Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* reproduces annually in North Carolina (Bruce 1969). Mating occurs in fall with egg deposition the following spring or summer (Bruce 1969 and 1972). Courtship success varies, possibly in relation to the body size of adults (Beachy 1996). Eggs are attached underneath large rocks or logs, in flowing water. The number of eggs varies from 44 to 132 in New York (Bishop 1941). Smaller clutch sizes are reported for southern regions: 9 to 63 in South and North Carolina (Bruce 1972), 87 for a female from North Carolina (Calisaya and Marks 1994), and 44 to 66 in Virginia (Organ 1961). Hatching occurs at the end of the summer (DeGraaf and Rudis 1983) or in the fall (Organ 1961). Development from fertilization to hatching is described by Calisaya and Marks (1994).

## Growth and longevity

The larval period is longer than that of any other plethodontid (Hairston 1987; Beachy and Bruce 1992), ranging from 3 to 5 years (Bruce 1980) and even up to 6 years (Resetarits 1995). Larval growth is affected by aquatic habitat condition and predation pressure (Bruce 1978 and 1980; Resetarits 1991 and 1995). Metamorphosed juveniles emerge in spring or summer while sexual maturity is reached a year later (Bishop 1941). In New York, individuals mature sexually at 4 to 5 years old, at a total length of 14 cm (Bishop 1947). Bruce (1969) estimates that females mature sexually at 5 years old. Resetarits (1995) reported sexually immature individuals over 6 years old. This suggests that the spring salamander has one of the most delayed ages at sexual maturity and probably one of the lowest recruitment rates of the Plethodontidae. Longevity is probably over ten years (Tilley 1977; Castenet et al. 1996).

#### **Movements**

As for other stream salamanders, movements of larvae and adults probably occur along stream habitats, although this has not been reported specifically for *G. porphyriticus* (Bruce 1986). Headwater populations may represent a source of colonists for downstream populations following the drift of larvae (Resetarits 1995).

Terrestrial movements should be rare compared to other salamander species (Bruce 1978), although distances traveled have not been reported. Bishop (1941) mentions movements between streams. Barbour (1971) indicates that movements away from a stream usually occur along wet habitats like road ditches. Huheey and Stupka (1967) report many individuals crossing roads during rainy nights in the Great Smoky Mountains. Restricted movements between streams may favor the isolation of populations (Tilley and Scherdtfeger 1981). This may explain the geographical variations and the tendency of sexual isolation among populations and subspecies of *G. porphyriticus* (Bruce 1978; Beachy 1996) (see Figure 2).

## Ecology

The spring salamander is a predator of other salamanders, of terrestrial and aquatic invertebrates, and of conspecifics (Burton 1976; Resetarits 1995). Larvae forage on the substrate and under cover objects (Resetarits 1991) while adults forage mostly at the stream edges. Intense predation by *G. porphyriticus* may reduce the availability of food (Culver 1973, 1975) and food shortage would slow larval growth (Resetarits 1991; 1995). In a portion of stream having a high density of spring salamanders, other stream salamanders may be less abundant or be absent (Bonin 1991a, pers. obs.).

The larvae are subjected to predation by trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*), which strongly affect distribution and population dynamics (Resetarits 1991 and 1995). Adults avoid predation from trout by using terrestrial habitat. Toxic cutaneous secretions and the red coloration which mimics that of even more toxic species are thought to protect

adults from terrestrial predators (Brodie et al. 1979; Brandon and Huheey 1981). The spring salamander is the host of more than a dozen species of helminth parasites (Catalano et al. 1982).

## Behavior, physiology and vulnerability

*Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* is nocturnal, foraging only during rainy nights (Burton and Likens 1975; Burton 1976). It therefore rarely interacts directly with humans. However, it might be intolerant to changes in habitat conditions because of the physiological limits related to lunglessness (Spotila 1972; Feder 1983) and the prolonged larval period (Resetarits 1995). Under natural conditions, the longevity of adults and their relatively large clutch sizes balance larval mortality related to variation in aquatic habitat conditions and predation pressure (Resetarits 1995). The species should have a limited adaptability when changes in the habitat affect adult survival or preclude the aquatic larval development. The vulnerability of the species is illustrated by the specificity of its habitat described above and by the numerous limiting factors listed below.

## LIMITING FACTORS

Habitat modification is the major threat to the species. Sedimentation related to stream bed and shore bank alteration during road construction and canalization work affects survival of salamander larvae (Bury 1980). The transformation of hydrographic systems has affected the survival of *G. porphyriticus* in New Jersey and Mississippi (Ashton 1976). Pumping of aquifers near springs also affects the survival of stream salamanders. In fact, water pumping in residential areas can modify a water regime from permanent to temporary (Medina 1990).

Changes in stream conditions following the elimination of forest at the stream edge also affects the survival of salamanders (Bury 1980; Corn and Bury 1989). Though the effect of forest cutting on aquatic habitats may be temporary (Martin et al. 1984; Likens 1985) it may have long term effects on genetic diversity and survival of salamander populations (Stiven and Bruce 1988).

The impact of atmospheric pollutants or pesticides used in forestry and agriculture (especially in orchards) is not documented (Harfenist et al. 1989). However, *G. porphyriticus* may be vulnerable to contamination due to its high trophic level and its longevity. Bury (1980) mentions that pollution of underground water and runoff of contaminants into streams can affect the survival of stream salamanders.

Predatory fish limit the survival of spring salamander larvae (Resetarits 1991 and 1995). The introduction of trout into headwater streams and ponds might therefore affect salamander populations.

Beavers modify stream conditions by the construction of dams, causing the warming of the water and eutrophication of the aquatic habitat. This affects mainly

streams in lowland and foothill regions since beavers usually avoid mountain streams because spring floods affect water level variation (Banfield 1975). Although the impact of beaver activities may be restricted to marginal downstream populations, it could become significant if the beaver populations increase following reduction of beaver trapping, reduction of the beaver's natural predators, and increase in the beaver's food resources due to forestry practices favoring second growth tree species.

## SPECIAL SIGNIFICANCE OF THE SPECIES

The spring salamander is the largest and the most primitive plethodontid found in Canada. Geographically distinct populations are present in the country. These populations, located at the northern limit of the species' range, present unique traits compared to other American populations (Brandon 1966). The species is among the largest predators in headwater stream communities (Resetarits 1995). However, the species is poorly known to the public because of its rarity and its secretive, nocturnal behavior.

## EVALUATION

The spring salamander should be considered **Special Concern** in Canada because of its limited range in Canada; its normally low abundance in suitable habitats in northeastern America; its delayed sexual maturity; which suggests a low recruitment rate and the need for a stable environment; its specialized habitat requirement for clear, cool, forested, mountain streams; its vulnerability to changes in its ecosystem due to human activities including elimination of forest cover at the stream edge, modification to the water regime, increased sedimentation, pollution, introduction of predatory fish, etc.; the impact on its survival due to extended logging activities within its distribution range in Canada; the impact of habitat transformation resulting from the recent increase in development for housing and recreation within its distribution range in Canada; and the limited protection afforded to the species and its habitat, which cannot counteract these negative habitat trends.

The two distinct Appalachian and Adirondack populations should be considered in conservation initiatives. The Adirondack population has a very restricted range and presently has no habitat protection. This population is therefore at greater risk and its conservation should receive priority. The Appalachian population occurs in several mountains and few of these subpopulations benefit from habitat protection. Headwater stream habitat protection is required in Mts Brome, Elephant, Shefford, Stokes and Sutton especially. Protection initiatives should focus on headwater stream populations and other high density populations, as these probably supply colonists for other populations downstream.

Our knowledge of populations at the margin of the species' distribution range is limited, especially in mountainous areas along the northeastern edge. The persistence of populations in old localities is also poorly known. A more accurate status evaluation would require more precise knowledge of the species range boundaries and population trends.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The production of this Canadian status report was supported by the Canadian Wildlife Federation. A preliminary French version was produced for the province of Quebec with the support of the "Ministère du loisir, de la chasse et de la pêche" in 1991. I thank the following persons for their support in previous surveys or in providing me with accurate distribution data: R. Alvo, Y. Bachand, J. R. Bider, F. R. Cook, and W. Weller.

## LITERATURE CITED

- Anonymous. 1986. Modalités d'intervention en milieu forestier. Ministère de l'énergie et des ressources du Québec, Québec. 75 pp.
- Ashton, E. Jr. 1976. Endangered and threatened amphibians and reptiles in the United States. Soc. Study Amph. Rept., Herp. Circ. No. 5.
- Banfield, A.W.F. 1975. Les mammifères du Canada. Musée national des Sciences Naturelles, Les Presses de l'université Laval, Québec. 406 pp.
- Barbour, R.W. 1971. Amphibians and reptiles of Kentucky. The University Press of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky. 334 pp.
- Beachy, C. K. 1996. Reduced courtship success between parapatric populations of the plethodontid salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*. Copeia 1996: 199-203.
- Beachy, C.K., and R.C. Bruce. 1992. Lunglessness in Plethodontid salamanders is consistent with the hypothesis of a mountain stream origin: a response to Ruben and Boucot. Am. Nat. 139:839-847.
- Beaulieu, H., and M. Huot. 1992. Liste des espèces de la faune vertébrée susceptibles d'être désignées menacées ou vulnérables. Ministère du Loisir, de la Chasse et de la pêche, Québec. vii +107 pp.
- Besharse, J.C., and J.R. Holsinger. 1977. *Gyrinophilus subterraneus*, a new trogloditic salamander from southern West Virginia. Copeia 1977: 631-634.
- Bider, R. and S. Matte. 1994. Atlas des amphibiens et des reptiles du Québec. Société d'histoire naturelle de la vallée du Saint-Laurent, Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Québec et ministère de l'Environnement et de la Faune, Direction de la faune et des habitats, Québec. 106 pp.
- Bishop, S.C. 1941. The salamanders of New York. The New York State Mus. Bull. 324: 1-365.
- Bishop, S.C. 1947. Handbook of salamanders. The salamanders of the United States, Canada, and lower California. Ithaca, New York, Comstock.
- Bleakney, J.S. 1958. A zoogeographical study of the amphibians and reptiles of eastern Canada, National Museum of Canada Bulletin 155: 1-119.
- Bonin, J. 1991a. Effect of forest age on woodland amphibians and status of stream salamanders in southwestern Quebec. MSc thesis, McGill University, Montreal, Canada. 85 pp.

- Bonin, J. 1991b. Situation de la salamandre pourpre, *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*, au Québec. Ministère du loisir, de la chasse et de la pêche, Québec. Unpublished report. 24 pp.
- Bonin, J. 1991c. Preserve design package of "The Gulf" Covey Hill, Quebec. The Nature Conservancy of Canada, Toronto, Ontario. Unpublished report. 59 pp. + maps.
- Bonin, J. 1994. Inventaire des localités historiques de la Grenouille des marais et de la Salamandre pourpre en Estrie et expérimentations de planchettes pour le dénombrement des salamandres terrestres au parc du Mont-Orford. Société d'herpétologie de l'estrie. Unpublished report 10 pp.

Brandon, R.A. 1966. Systematics of the salamander genus *Gyrinophilus*. Illinois Biol. Monogr., 35:1-86.

- Brandon, R.A. 1967a. Gyrinophilus. Cat. Amer. Amph. Rept. 31: 1-2.
- Brandon, R.A. 1967b. Gyrinophilus palleucus. Cat. Amer. Amph. Rept. 32: 1-2.
- Brandon, R.A. 1967c. Gyrinophilus porphyriticus. Cat. Amer. Amph. Rept. 33: 1-3.
- Brandon, R.A., and J.E. Huheey. 1981. Toxicity in the Plethodontid salamanders *Pseudotriton ruber* and *Pseudotriton montanus* (Amphibia, Caudata). Toxicon. 19: 25-31.
- Brodie, E.D. Jr., R.T. Nowak and W.R. Harvey. 1979. The effectiveness of antipredator secretions and behaviors of selected salamanders against shrews. Copeia 1979: 270-274.
- Bruce, R.C. 1969. Fecundity in the primitive plethodontid salamanders. Evolution 23: 50-54.
- Bruce, R.C. 1972. Variation in the life cycle of the salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*. Herpetologica 28: 230-245.
- Bruce, R.C. 1978. Life-history patterns of the salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* in the Cowee Mountains, North Carolina. Herpetologica 34: 53-64.
- Bruce, R.C. 1980. A model of the larval period of the spring salamander, *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*, based on size-frequency distributions. Herpetologica 36: 78-86.
- Bruce, R.C. 1986. Upstream and downstream movement of *Eurycea bislineata* and other salamanders in a Southern Appalachian stream. Herpetologica 42: 149-155.
- Burton, T.M. 1976. An analysis of the feeding ecology of the salamanders (Amphibia, Urodela) of the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, New Hampshire. J. Herpetol. 10: 187-204.
- Burton, T.M., and G.E. Likens. 1975. Salamander populations and biomass in Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, New Hampshire. Copeia 1975: 541-546.
- Bury, R.B. 1980. Conservation of the amphibians of the United States: review. U.S.A. Dept. of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service. Resource publication 134, Washington, D. C., 34 pp.
- Castenet, J., H. Francillon-Vieillot, and R.C. Bruce. 1996. Age estimation in desmognathine salamanders assessed by skeletochronology. Herpetologica 52: 160-171.
- Catalano, P.A., A.M. White, and F.J. Etges. 1982. Helminths of the salamanders *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* and *Pseudotriton montanus* (Caudata: Plethodontidae) from Ohio. Ohio J. Sci. 82: 120-128.

- Collins, J.T. 1990. Standard common and current scientific names for North American amphibians and reptiles. 3rd edition. Society for the study of amphibians and reptiles. Herpetological circular. No. 19. 41 pp.
- Collazo, A., and S.B. Marks. 1994. Development of *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus*: identification of the ancestral developmental pattern in the salamander family plethodontidae. J. Exp. Zool. 268: 239-258.
- Cook, F.R. 1970. Rare and endangered Canadian amphibians and reptiles. Can. Field-Nat. 84: 24-26.
- Cook, F.R. 1977. Review of the Canadian herpetological scene. In: T. Mosquin, and C. Suchal (eds.) Canada's threatened species and habitats, Can. Nature Fed., Ottawa. pp.117-121.
- Cook, F.R. 1984. Introduction to Canadian amphibians and reptiles. National Museum of Natural Sciences, Ottawa. 200 pages.
- Corn, P.S., and R.B. Bury. 1989. Logging in western Oregon: responses of headwater habitats and stream amphibians. Forest Ecology and Management 29: 39-57.
- Cromartie, W.J. (ed.) 1982. New Jersey's endangered and threatened plants and animals. Stockton State College, Centre for New Jersey Environmental Research. 385 pp.
- Culver, D.C. 1973. Feeding behavior of the salamander *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* in caves. Int. J. Speleol. 5: 369-377.
- Culver, D.C. 1975. Interaction between competition and predation in cave stream communities. Int. J. Speleol. 7: 229-245.
- DeGraaf, R.M., and D.D. Rudis. 1983. Amphibians and reptiles of New England, Habitats and natural history. The University of Massachusetts Press, Amherst, Mass. 85 pp.
- Feder, M.E. 1983. Integrating the ecology and physiology of Plethodontid salamanders. Herpetologica 39: 291-310.
- Frost, D.R. 1985. Amphibian species of the world. Publ. Assoc. Systematics Collections, Lawrence. Kansas. v + 732 pp
- Gordon, D.M. 1979. New localities for the Northern Spring Salamander in southwestern Quebec. Can. Field-Nat. 93: 193-195.
- Green, D.M. 1997. Perspectives on amphibian population declines: defining the problem and searching for answers. In: D.M. Green (ed.) Amphibians in decline. Canadian studies of a global problem. Herpetogical Conservation Vol. 1, Soc. Stud. Amphib. Rept., St. Louis.
- Hairston, N.G., Sr. 1987. Community ecology and salamander guilds. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 230 pp.
- Harfenist, A., T. Power, K.L. Clark, and D.B. Peakall. 1989. A review and evaluation of the amphibian toxicological literature. Can. Widl. Serv. Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 61, Ottawa. 222 pp.
- Huheey, J.E., and A. Stupka. 1967. Amphibians and reptiles of Great Smoky Mountains National Park. The Univ. of Tennessee Press, Knoxville.
- Leclair, R. Jr. 1985. Les Amphibiens du Québec: biologie des espèces et problématique de conservation des habitats. Ministère du Loisir, de la Chasse et de la Pêche, Québec. 121 pp.

- Likens, G.E. 1985. An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology, Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer-Verlag, New York. 516 pp.
- Martin, C.W., D.S. Noel, and C.A. Federer. 1984. Effects of forest clearcutting in New-England on stream chemistry. J. Environ. Qual. 13: 204-211.
- Medina, A.L. 1990. Possible effects of residential development on stream flow, riparian plant communities and fisheries on small mountain streama in central Arizona. Forest Ecology and Management, 33-34: 351-361.
- OHS 1996. Ontario Herpetofaunal Summary Database. Natural Heritage Information Centre, Peterborough, Ontario. Unpublished listing.
- Oldham, M.J. 1996. Natural heritage resources of Ontario: amphibians and reptiles. Natural Heritage Information Centre, Peterborough, Ontario. Unpublished brochure. 10 pp.
- Ovaska, K. 1995. Vulnerability of amphibians in Canada to atmospheric changes. Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa. Unpublished draft report. 71 pp.
- Organ, J.A. 1961. Studies of the local distribution, life history, and population dynamics of the salamander genus *Desmognathus* in Virginia. Ecol. Monogr. 31: 189-220.
- Resetarits, W.J. Jr. 1991. Ecological interactions among predators in experimental stream communities. Ecology 72: 1782-1793.
- Resetarits, W.J. Jr. 1995. Competitive asymmetry and coexistence in size-structured populations of brook trout and spring salamanders. Oikos 73: 188-198.
- Shaffer, F., and Y. Bachand. 1989. Nouvelles localités pour la salamandre pourpre au Québec. Nat. Can. 116: 279-281.
- Sever, D.M. 1986. Disparate sexual variation among *Gyrinophilus*, *Pseudotriton* and *Stereochilus* (Amphibia: Pliethodontidae). Herpetologica 42: 301-323.
- Spotila, J.R. 1972. Role of temperature and water in the ecology of lungless salamanders. Ecological Monographs 42: 111-125.
- Stiven, A.E., and R.C. Bruce. 1988. Ecological genetics of *Desmognathus quadramaculatus* from disturbed watersheds in the Southern Appalachian Bioshere Reserve Cluster. Conservation Biology, June 1988: 194-200.
- Tilley, S.G. 1977. Studies of life histories and reproduction in North American plethodontid salamanders. In: Taylor, D.H. and Guttman, S.I. (eds.): Reproductive biology of amphibians, Plenum Press. New York, NY.1-141.
- Tilley, S.G., and P.M. Schwerdtfeger. 1981. Electrophoretic variation in Appalachian (USA) populations of the *Desmognathus fuscus* complex (Amphibia: Plethodontidae). Copeia 1981: 109-119.
- Vial, J. L., and L. Saylor. 1993. The status of amphibian populations. Declining Amphibian Populations Task Force, International Union for Conservation of Nature. 98 p.
- Wake, D.B. 1966. Comparative osteology and evolution of the lungless salamanders, family Plethodontidae. Memoirs of the Southern California Academy of Sciences 4:1-111.
- Weller, W.F. 1977. Distribution of stream salamanders in southwestern Quebec. Can. Field-Nat. 91: 299-303.
- Wortham, J. W. E. Jr., J. A. Murphy, J. Martan, and R. A. Brandon. 1982. Scanning electron microscopy of some salamander spermatozoa. Copeia 1982: 52-60.

#### THE AUTHOR

Joël Bonin obtained his Master's degree in wildlife resources at McGill University in 1991. His thesis concerned the ecology of *Gyrinophilus porphyriticus* and other members of the stream salamander community from the foothills of the Adirondacks, in southern Quebec. He has conducted several extended surveys of stream salamander species throughout the province. He has written various scientific papers and status reports on seven species of amphibians and reptiles. He is actively involved in research and conservation projects concerning the native herpetofauna. He is the Quebec provincial co-ordinator for the Canadian Declining Amphibian Populations Task Force and a member of the COSEWIC Reptile and Amphibian Subcommittee. He is currently working with the Nature Conservancy of Canada.